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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
GALVESTON DIVISION

Jerry Rodriguez, on behalf of himself
and others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,

Case No. 3:25-cv-225

V.
Remy Coeytaux,

Defendant.

COMPLAINT

Under the law of Texas, a person who assists a pregnant woman in obtaining a
self-managed abortion commits the crime of murder and can be sued for wrongtul
death. See Texas Penal Code § 1.07; zd. at § 19.02; zd. at § 19.06 (murder statute);
Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 71.001 et seq. (wrongful-death statute). It is also a
state jail felony for anyone other than a Texas-licensed physician to provide an abor-
tion-inducing drug for the purpose of inducing an abortion. See Tex. Health & Safety
Code § 171.063(a); Tex. Health & Safety Code § 171.065(a).

In violation of these and many other laws, defendant Remy Coeytaux mailed
abortion-inducing drugs into Texas that were used to murder Jerry Rodriguez’s un-
born child. Mr. Rodriguez sues to recover damages from Coeytaux for this wrongtul
death. Mr. Rodriguez also seeks an injunction to stop Coeytaux from distributing
abortion-inducing drugs in violation of state or federal law.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332, as the

parties are diverse and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.00.

CLASS-ACTION COMPLAINT Page 1 of 10



Case 3:25-cv-00225 Document1l Filed on 07/20/25in TXSD Page 2 of 10

2. The Court has personal jurisdiction over defendant Coeytaux because he
purposefully and knowingly mailed abortion-inducing drugs into Texas in violation
of state law, and Mr. Rodriguez’s claim arises out of those minimum contacts with the
forum state.

3. Venue is proper in this district and division because a substantial part of the
events giving rise to the claims occurred in Galveston County. See 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391(b)(2). Venue is additionally proper because each of the defendants resides in
Galveston County. See 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1).

PARTIES

4.  Plaintift Jerry Rodriguez is a citizen of Texas.

5. Defendant Remy Coeytaux is a citizen of California, where he operates a
solo medical practice.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

6.  Plaintiff Jerry Rodriguez began dating Kendal Garza in June of 2024.

7. InJuly of 2024, Kendal became pregnant with Mr. Rodriguez’s child.

8.  Although Kendal was happy about the pregnancy and told Mr. Rodrigez
that she planned to give birth, her estranged husband (Adam Garza) was displeased
and wanted the baby murdered. Kendal had legally separated from Adam years before
she started dating Mr. Rodriguez but had not yet divorced him.

9.  On September 16, 2024, at 9:10 p.m. central time, Adam Garza ordered
abortion-inducing drugs online from Coeytaux with the intent of using them to mur-
der Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child. A Venmo receipt confirming Adam’s purchase of
the drugs from Coeytaux is attached as Exhibit 1. The receipt indicates that the drugs
were purchased for $150.00 from “Remy Coeytaux MD PC” and describes the pur-

chase as “‘Aed axes Kendal Garza.”” The first two words (“Aed axes”) are homophones
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for “Aid Access,” an organization that illegally ships abortion-inducing drugs into ju-
risdictions where abortion has been outlawed. Payment was made with a Visa Debit
card whose last four digits are 1012. The payment was remitted to a Venmo account
with the handle “@RemyCoeytaux.”

10. After receiving this order, Coeytaux shipped the abortion-inducing drugs
to Adam Garza’s house in Galveston County, Texas.

11. On September 19, 2024, Kendal Garza used the drugs that Adam had pur-
chased from Coeytaux to kill the unborn child that she conceived with Mr. Rodriguez.
Kendal told Mr. Rodriguez that Adam Garza provided her with the abortion drugs,
and that both Adam and her mother (Kim Crawford Williams) pressured her to kill
the baby with the drugs obtained from Coeytaux. Kendal ingested the abortion-in-
ducing drugs and killed Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child at Ms. Williams’s house in Gal-
veston County. Kendal was more than 10 weeks pregnant when she took the pills.

12. 1In late October 2024, Kendal became pregnant for a second time with Mr.
Rodriguez’s child. Kendal was again happy about the pregnancy and told Mr. Rodri-
gez that she planned to give birth to their child, a son. On January 18, 2025, Kendal
and Mr. Rodriguez together went to a doctor’s appointment and were provided with
sonograms of the baby boy, which are attached as Exhibit 2.

13. But later in January Kendal killed Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn son with abor-
tion pills that were illegally obtained and provided by Adam Garza. This time Kendal
took the abortion-inducing drugs at Adam’s house in Galveston County. Kendal pro-
ceeded with this self-managed abortion even though she was nearly three months
pregnant and even though Mr. Rodriguez pleaded with her not to do it. After the
abortion, Kendal texted Mr. Rodriguez and told him that she had to cut the baby
boy’s umbilical cord and bury him (although she did not say where).

14. In May of 2025, Kendal became pregnant for a third time with Mr. Rodri-

guez’s child. She is now two months pregnant. Mr. Rodriguez fears that Adam Garza
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will again pressure Kendal to kill his unborn child and obtain abortion pills from
Coeytaux to commit the murder.
CLAIM FOR RELIEF NO. 1 — WRONGFUL DEATH

15. The wrongtful-death statute allows surviving parents to sue those who cause
the death of an unborn child by a wrongful act, neglect, carelessness, unskillfulness,
or default. See Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 71.002(b) (“A person is liable for dam-
ages arising from an injury that causes an individual’s death if the injury was caused
by the person’s or his agent’s or servant’s wrongful act, neglect, carelessness, unskill-
fulness, or default.”); Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 71.001(4) (“‘Individual’ in-
cludes an unborn child at every stage of gestation from fertilization until birth.”).

16. Defendant Coeytaux caused the death of Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child
through his wrongtul acts, which violated the law in each the following respects:

17. Section 171.063(a)(1) of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits anyone
other than a Texas-licensed physician from providing abortion-inducing drugs to a
pregnant woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion. See Tex. Health & Safety
Code § 171.063(a) (“A person may not knowingly provide an abortion-inducing
drug to a pregnant woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion in the pregnant
woman or enabling another person to induce an abortion in the pregnant woman
unless: (1) the person who provides the abortion-inducing drug is a physician”). A
violation of section 171.063(a)(1) is a state jail felony. See Tex. Health & Safety Code
§ 171.065(a). Coeytaux is not a Texas-licensed physician, so he violated section
171.063(a)(1) by knowingly sending abortion-inducing drugs into Texas, which he
knew would be provided to a pregnant woman for the purpose of inducing an abor-
tion. Coeytaux is also criminally responsible for Adam Garza’s violations of section
171.063(a)(1) because Coeytaux knowingly aided Adam’s provision of abortion-in-

ducing drugs to a pregnant woman. See Tex. Penal Code § 7.02.
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18. Section 171.063(a)(2) of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits indi-
viduals from providing abortion-inducing drugs to a pregnant woman for the purpose
of abortion unless they comply with the protocols in subchapter D of chapter 171 of
the Texas Health and Safety Code. See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 171.063(a) (“A
person may not knowingly provide an abortion-inducing drug to a pregnant woman
for the purpose of inducing an abortion in the pregnant woman or enabling another
person to induce an abortion in the pregnant woman unless: . . . (2) the provision of
the abortion-inducing drug satisfies the protocol authorized by this subchapter”). A
violation of section 171.063(a)(2) is a state jail felony. See Tex. Health & Safety Code
§ 171.065(a). Coeytaux violated section 171.063(a)(2) by knowingly sending abor-
tion-inducing drugs into Texas, which he knew would be provided to a pregnant
woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion. Coeytaux is also criminally respon-
sible for Adam Garza’s violations of section 171.063(a)(2) because he knowingly
aided Adam’s provision of abortion-inducing drugs to a pregnant woman. See Tex.
Penal Code § 7.02.

19. Section 171.0631 of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits any person
from providing abortion-inducing drugs to a pregnant woman without complying
with the informed-consent requirements of subchapter B of chapter 171 of the Texas
Health and Safety Code, which include a mandatory ultrasound. See Tex. Health &
Safety Code § 171.0631 (“A person may not provide an abortion-inducing drug to a
pregnant woman without satisfying the applicable informed consent requirements of
Subchapter B.”). A violation of section 171.0631 is a state jail felony. See Tex. Health
& Safety Code § 171.065(a). Coeytaux violated section 171.0631 by knowingly
sending abortion-inducing drugs into Texas, which he knew would be provided to a
pregnant woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion. Coeytaux is also criminally

responsible for Adam Garza’s violations of section 171.0631 because he knowingly

CLASS-ACTION COMPLAINT Page 5 of 10



Case 3:25-cv-00225 Document1l Filed on 07/20/25in TXSD Page 6 of 10

aided Adam’s provision of abortion-inducing drugs to a pregnant woman. See Tex.
Penal Code § 7.02.

20. Section 171.003 of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits anyone other
than a Texas-licensed physician to perform abortions. See Tex. Health & Safety Code
§ 171.003 (“An abortion may be performed only by a physician licensed to practice
medicine in this state.”). Coeytaux is not a Texas-licensed physician, and he performed
an abortion in violation of section 171.003 by arranging for the delivery and provision
of the abortion pills that Kendal Garza used in her self-managed abortion. Coeytaux
further violated section 171.003 by knowingly aiding an illegal self-managed abortion
in Texas. See Tex. Penal Code § 7.02.

21. Section 171.011 of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits any person
from performing an abortion without complying with the informed-consent require-
ments of subchapter B of chapter 171 of the Texas Health and Safety Code, which
include a mandatory ultrasound. See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 171.011 (“A person
may not perform an abortion without the voluntary and informed consent of the
woman on whom the abortion is to be performed.”). Coeytaux performed an abor-
tion in violation of section 171.011 by arranging for the delivery and provision of the
abortion pills that Kendal Garza used in her self-managed abortion, which did not
comply with the mandatory ultrasound and other statutory informed-consent re-
quirements in Texas law. Coeytaux has further violated section 171.011 by aiding an
illegal self-managed abortion in Texas without complying with the mandatory ultra-
sound and other statutory informed-consent requirements.

22. Chapter 245 of the Texas Health and Safety Code requires abortions in Texas
to be performed in licensed abortion facilities (subject to exceptions not applicable
here). See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 245.002(2) (“‘Abortion facility” means a place
where abortions are performed.”); zd. at § 245.003(a) (“Except as provided by Sec-

tion 245.004, a person may not establish or operate an abortion facility in this state
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without an appropriate license issued under this chapter.”). Coeytaux violated chapter
245 of the Texas Health and Safety Code by performing and assisting an abortion
that took place outside a licensed abortion facility.

23. Federal law imposes criminal liability on any person who:

a. Knowingly uses the mails for the mailing, carriage, or delivery of
abortion-inducing drugs;

b. Knowingly uses any express company, common carrier, or interac-
tive computer service for carriage of abortion-inducing drugs in in-
terstate or foreign commerce; or

c. Knowingly takes or receives abortion-inducing drugs from an ex-
press company, a Common carrier, or an interactive computer ser-
vice.

18 US.C. §§ 1461-1462. Coeytaux violated these federal criminal laws by sending
abortion-inducing drugs into Texas with the intent of aiding an illegal abortion.

24. Articles 4512.1-4512.6 of the Texas Revised Civil Statutes make abortion a
felony criminal offense unless the life of the mother is endangered. Violations of arti-
cles 4512.1-4512.6 are punishable by two to five years imprisonment. Coeytaux vio-
lated articles 4512.1-4512.6 by performing or assisting an abortion in Texas that was
not needed to save the life of the mother.

25. Section 170A.002 of the Texas Health and Safety Code also makes abortion
a felony criminal offense unless the abortion is performed to avert the risk of death or
a serious risk of substantial impairment of a major bodily function. See Tex. Health &
Safety Code § 170A.002. Violations of section 170A.002 are punishable by five to 99
years imprisonment. See Tex. Penal Code § 12.32. Coeytaux violated section
170A.002 by performing or assisting an abortion in Texas that was not needed to avert
the risk of death or a serious risk of substantial impairment of a major bodily function.

26. Assisting a self-managed abortion in Texas is an act of murder. See Texas Pe-

nal Code § 1.07; zd. at § 19.02; 7d. at § 19.06 (murder statute). Although Kendal
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Garza cannot be charged with murder for her role in killing her unborn child,! her
immunity does not shield Coeytaux from liability for aiding or abetting or directly
participating in the murder. See Tex. Penal Code § 7.03 (“In a prosecution in which
an actor’s criminal responsibility is based on the conduct of another, the actor may be
convicted on proof of commission of the offense and that he was a party to its com-
mission, and it is no defense: (1) that the actor belongs to a class of persons that by
definition of the offense is legally incapable of committing the offense in an individual
capacity; or (2) that the person for whose conduct the actor is criminally responsible
has been acquitted, has not been prosecuted or convicted, has been convicted of a
different offense or of a different type or class of offense, or is immune from prosecu-
tion.”). Coeytaux directly committed murder under section 19.02(b)(1) because he
“intentionally and knowingly caused the death” of Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child by
delivering abortion pills that he knew would be used in an illegal self-managed abor-
tion. See Tex. Penal Code § 19.02(b) (“A person commits an offense if he: (1) inten-
tionally or knowingly causes the death of an individual”). And Coeytaux directly com-
mitted murder under section 19.02(b)(2) because he “intended to cause serious bod-
ily injury and committed an act clearly dangerous to human life that caused the death”
of Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child. See Tex. Penal Code § 19.02(b) (“A person commits
an offense if he: . .. (2) intends to cause serious bodily injury and commits an act
clearly dangerous to human life that causes the death of an individual”).

27. Coeytaux is also guilty of felony murder under section 19.02(b)(3) of the
Texas Penal Code. Coeytaux’s shipment of abortion pills to Adam Garza was a felony.
See Tex. Health & Safety Code §171.063(a); Tex. Health & Safety Code
§ 171.065(a); 18 US.C. §§ 1461-1462. Coeytaux also committed an act “clearly

1. See Texas Penal Code § 19.06 (“This chapter does not apply to the death of an

unborn child if the conduct charged is: (1) conduct committed by the mother of
the unborn child”).
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dangerous to human life that causes the death of an individual.” Tex. Penal Code
§ 19.02(b)(3); Texas Penal Code § 1.07 (defining “individual” to include “an unborn
child at every stage of gestation from fertilization until birth.”). Coeytaux therefore
committed felony murder under section 19.02(b)(3).

28. The manufacturers and distributors of the abortion pills that Kendal used are
jointly and severally liable for the wrongful death of Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child,
and they will be added as defendants once identified. The manufacturer and distribu-
tors caused the death of Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child through a “wrongful act” be-
cause they violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462, which imposes federal criminal liability
on anyone who knowingly sends or receives abortion pills through the mail or by
using any express company, common carrier, or interactive computer service.

29. None of the exceptions in Texas’s wrongful-death statute shield the defend-
ants (or the manufacturers and distributors of the abortion pills) from liability. Sec-
tions 71.003(c)(2) and (c)(4) of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code are in-
applicable because assisting a self-managed abortion is not a “lawful medical proce-
dure,” nor is it a “lawful medical or health care practice or procedure.” Section
71.003(c)(3) is inapplicable because the abortion pills were not dispensed or admin-
istered “in accordance with law.” Coeytaux is therefore liable under section 71.003
and must pay damages to Mr. Rodriguez for murdering his unborn child.

30. Mr. Rodriguez secks damages in excess of $75,000.00, the minimum
amount in controversy required for diversity jurisdiction. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a).

CLAIM FOR RELIEF NO. 2 — INJUNCTION

31. Mr. Rodriguez has standing to seek injunctive relief against Coeytaux be-
cause Kendal Garza is again pregnant with his unborn child, and there is a substantial
risk that Adam Garza will obtain abortion pills illegally from Coeytaux and provide

those to Kendal. See TransUnion LLC v. Ramirez, 594 U.S. 413, 435-36 (2021)
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(“[A] person exposed to a risk of future harm may pursue forward-looking, injunctive
relief to prevent the harm from occurring”). This risk is fairly traceable to the allegedly
unlawful conduct of Coeytaux, who continues to send abortion pills into Texas in
violation of state and federal law, and it will be redressed by an injunction that restrains
Coeytaux from illegally distributing abortion-inducing drugs.

32. Mr. Rodriguez seeks this injunction on behalf of a class of all current and

future fathers of unborn children in the United States. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).

DEMAND FOR RELIEF

33. Mr. Rodriguez respectfully requests that the court:

a. certity the class described in paragraph 32;
b. order Coeytaux to pay nominal, compensatory, and punitive damages
to for the wrongful death of Mr. Rodriguez’s unborn child;
C. permanently enjoin Coeytaux from distributing abortion-inducing
drugs in violation of state or federal law, including 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1461-1462;
d. award Mr. Rodriguez court costs and attorneys’ fees; and
e. grant all other relief that the Court deems just, proper, or equitable.
Respectfully submitted.
s/ Jonathan F. Mitchell
JONATHAN F. MITCHELL
Attorney in Charge
Texas Bar No. 24075463
S.D. Tex. Bar No. 1133287
Mitchell Law PLLC
111 Congress Avenue, Suite 400
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 686-3940 (phone)
(512) 686-3941 (fax)
jonathan@mitchell.law
Dated: July 20, 2025 Counsel for Plaintiff and Proposed Class
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